
MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 

 
The Arkansas State Police Commission met on Thursday, January 16, 2025, at the Arkansas 
State Police Headquarters, Little Rock, Arkansas. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague called the meeting to order at 10:06 a.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Commissioner Jeffery Teague, Chairman 
Commissioner Jim Hinkle, Secretary 
Commissioner Ken Reeves  
Commissioner Neff Basore 
Commissioner Mike Akin 
Commissioner Steve Edwards 
 

MEMBER ON CONFERENCE CALL: 
Commissioner John Allison, Vice-Chairman 
 

STATE POLICE PERSONNEL PRESENT:  
Colonel Mike Hagar Lt. Colonel Mike Kennedy 
Lt. Colonel Jason Aaron Major Jeff Drew 
Major Mike Moyer Major Stacie Rhoads 
Major Ron Casey Captain Randall Murphy 
Captain David Williams Major Roby Rhoads 
Sherry Woods Susan Tedford 
Kalika Rogers Dan Mack 
Karen Perry Jenna Castleberry 
Sergeant Chuck Lewis Nick Genty 
Shelly Cantrell Cindy Murphy 
Captain Dustin Morgan Captain Joe Carter 
Bridget White Dr. Buster Lackey 
Jonathan Nettles Phillip Warriner 
Janet Chappelle Donna Humphries 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 
 Joan Shipley, DPS Doug Elms, SafeHaven Security 
 Austin Coleman, Senator Cotton’s Office 
  
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
Commission Chairman Teague led the pledge of allegiance.   
 
NOTIFICATION OF MEDIA: 
 
The media was notified of this meeting on December 31, 2024/January 13, 2025. 
 
MINUTES:  
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated you have before you the minutes of the December 12, 
2024, regular monthly meeting, what is your pleasure?  Commissioner Reeves stated I make 
a motion to approve the minutes of the regular monthly commission meeting.  Commissioners 
Akin and Hinkle seconded the motion.  Commission Chairman Teague stated we have a 
motion and a second, all in favor, I, any opposed and the motion passed. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated at this time we have our division reports, and we will 
start with our Fiscal Report, Ms. Perry. 
 
Karen Perry stated good morning, Colonel, and Commissioners, we are halfway through the 
year and our expenses are looking good and our revenue is looking good, no problems.  We 
are working on our 1099s for 2024 and they will be done by the end of the month and mailed 
out to our vendors.  We are just waiting for our appropriation bill to be filed and monitoring 
that during the session.  I would be happy to answer any questions. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated Administrative Services, Major Roby Rhoads. 
 
Major Roby Rhoads stated good morning, we are in week 14 of Troop School and they are 
working their third week of crash reconstruction. 
 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 – Page 2 
 
 
Our Wellness Program saw 38 people, we had one critical incident debrief and two Act 537 
visits and Dr. Lackey saw both of them.  Major Roby Rhoads stated for the ASP Health Plan, 
the December paid claims were $1,835,993.00, that is an increase of $735,000.00 from the 
previous month.  The fund balance is $13,509,900.00.   
 
Commissioner Reeves asked how many are in Troop School.  Major Roby Rhoads stated 39.  
Commissioner Reeves stated so it has stayed steady.  Major Roby Rhoads stated we have 
kept them. 
 
Commissioner Allison asked did we have a claim that was extra ordinarily high for the 
month?  Major Roby Rhoads we had nine high claims.  Commissioner Allison stated we can’t 
stand a lot of the $1,800,000.00.  Major Roby Rhoads stated no, that was a very high month 
for us.    
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated Crimes Against Children, Major Drew.   
 
Major Jeff Drew stated good morning, Colonel, Chair, and Commissioners, the CACD 
Hotline received 5,020 calls in December, with 2,073 of those being accepted for 
investigation.  Major Drew stated there were 62 child deaths reported, four were investigated, 
53 assessed, and five documented.  Major Drew stated investigations accepted 500 cases and 
closed 489 with 137 being found true for a substantiation rate of 28%.  Major Drew stated 
we finished the year with 64,956 calls and 6,240 investigations, that was a drop off in calls 
of 2,684 but we went up in investigations by 11. 
 
Commissioner Reeves asked how many fatalities did you say we had in December?  Major 
Drew stated that number is excessively high because what took place was a lot of the deaths 
were unreported through the year, and they all came in at one time.  Commissioner Reeves 
stated they caught them all up in December.  Major Drew stated they are catching up and 
they are still coming in.   
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated Criminal Investigations, Major Stacie Rhoads.  
 
Major Stacie Rhoads stated good morning, Colonel, Chairman, Commissioners, for the 
month of December CID initiated 120 cases, 24 of those were death cases, nine were 
homicides.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated we worked two officer involved shootings and two 
officer misconduct investigations.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated I kind of want to recap some 
of our numbers for the year, we have been putting together the stats for the annual report and 
I just want to share with you all some of the work that we are doing.  Major Stacie Rhoads 
stated for the year of 2024 we worked 1,618 cases; 976 we were the primary lead agency.  
We worked 29 homicides, 22 officer involved shootings, we made 1,326 felony arrests, and 
132 misdemeanor arrests.  We conducted 929 crime scene searches, we conducted 4,084 
interviews, executed 972 search warrants, 379 court appearances, and we conducted 47 scans 
using our Faro 3D crime scene scanner.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated drug related we 
confiscated, seized or purchased five pounds of cocaine, two pounds of fentanyl, 65 pounds 
of methamphetamine, and over 118 pounds of marijuana and these are actual seized or 
purchased that are in our communities.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated when I was thinking 
about these numbers, yeah those are really good numbers, but they really don’t tell the story 
behind these numbers.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated it doesn’t tell you the story of the 
investigation done by Christina Bussey who reported two reports of a volleyball coach in 
Nevada County who was having inappropriate sexual encounters with females from the 
school.  So far, we have identified at least 12 victims from that school that he has had these 
inappropriate encounters with, he has since been arrested and we are still investigating that, 
but he is pending trial at this time.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated the numbers don’t tell the 
story of the relentless pursuit of David Harrell, he is an investigator here in Company A and 
back in 2022, we responded to assist Troop A with a shooting on the interstate and we get 
dozens of these, a lot of times it is hard to identify who was actually pulling the trigger.  But 
David, still searching for evidence just this last fall, was able to make three separate arrests 
for that shooting back in 2022.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated relentless pursuit.  Major Stacie 
Rhoads stated it doesn’t tell the story of Special Agent Kevin Brown and Erick Riggs who 
responded to assist the Van Buren Sheriff’s Department with a missing person’s case.  This 
man had been missing for over a year and a half.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated they dug in, 
they found some information where he might be located, they secured a search warrant, went 
to the property of this man’s in laws and dug him out of the ground and he had been there for 
a year and a half.  They didn’t stop there, they went to Oklahoma, found the man responsible, 
got a confession and he is now awaiting trial for that case.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated it also 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 – Page 3 
 
 
doesn’t tell the story of the court appearance by Company B.  Pine Bluff Officer Kevin 
Collins was murdered back in 2020, his case just went to trial in September, and it doesn’t 
tell you the dedication of these agents, who came under scrutiny for the case they worked 4 
years ago, and that they were able to secure a conviction in that case.  Major Stacie Rhoads 
stated I just wanted to give you some of the stories behind the stats because I think it is 
important.  
 
Commissioner Reeves stated thank you for sharing with us.   
 
Commissioner Hinkle asked when you tell us there are x number of cases investigated 
because of officer involved shootings, is that only ASP officer involved shootings or would 
that be like a deputy or city policeman.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated yes, it includes State 
Police, it includes local and Federal agencies, as you recall we did an ATF shooting as well, 
so it encompasses all of them.   
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated Highway Patrol, Major Ron Casey. 
 
Major Ron Casey stated good morning, Colonel, Chairman, Commissioners, I will have two 
reports today, one for December and then the yearly stats compiled over 2024.  Major Casey 
stated for December 2024 the total criminal arrests was 2,251, with 1,456 total persons 
arrested, 254 DWI arrests, 3 DUI arrests and 6,433 hazardous arrests, arresting 515 people.  
Troopers issued 15,849 citations, conducted 2,995 motorists assists and were involved in 42 
pursuits.  They investigated 1,476 crashes, 31 of those being fatalities.  They recovered 16 
stolen vehicles with an approximate worth of $235,500.00 and stolen property worth 
$13,200.00 and troopers drove 810,382 miles.  Major Casey stated there were nine aircraft 
missions and five training flights.  There were 15,107 DL/CDL tests given and 25,331 calls 
for service into the dispatchers.  The Interstate Criminal Patrol seized 1,155 pounds of 
marijuana, 1.4 pounds of methamphetamine, 3.3 grams of cocaine, 187.67 pounds of other 
drugs, this includes edibles, promethazine, ecstasy, other illegal prescription drugs and seized 
$48,000.00 in money seizures.  
 
Major Casey stated totals for Highway Patrol activity for the year of 2024, total criminal 
arrests was 32,852, there were 21,258 persons arrested, 3,556 DWI and 70 DUI arrests.  They 
issued 95,335 citations for hazardous, arresting 7,218 persons, troopers issued 231,500 
citations.  Major Casey stated they assisted 37,456 motorists, and we had a total of 613 
pursuits.  They investigated 16,687 crashes, 558 of those being fatalities, that is 8 less than 
we had in the previous year of 2023.  Major Casey stated it is not a lot, but at least it is less.  
They recovered 206 stolen vehicles with a net worth of approximately $4,137,658.00, stolen 
property worth which would probably include guns and so forth was $227,830.00 and drove 
11,180,148 miles.  We had 156 aircraft missions and 52 training flights, and they flew 317.6 
hours.  There were 233,749 DL/CDL test given; we had 361,961 calls for service to our 
dispatchers.  Major Casey stated I would like to give a total of the ICP Teams seizures for 
2024 there was 15,523.27 pounds of marijuana, 254 pounds of cocaine, 509 pounds of 
methamphetamine, troopers seized $3,368,433.00, there were 1300 prescription pills seized, 
6.9 pounds of fentanyl, the psilocybin mushrooms was 105 pounds, 201 bottles of 
promethazine, 3719 THC vapes, 44 weapons and 20 vehicles.  One case with over $58,000.00 
that was seized for stolen tools from Home Depot and there was five, $10,000.00 worth of 
gift cards that was seized and ICP Trooper arrested 237 people.  Everything that falls under 
Highway Patrol this is just a short synopsis of their training, time, and deployment hours.  
Our reconstruction team was requested 57 times, and they had approximately 380 hours of 
training.  Our drone team had 1,074 flights and a total of 160 flight hours.  Our crisis 
negotiation team had 128 hours of training in 2024 and two call outs, one in Morrilton and 
one in DeValls Bluff, and they had 50 hours of crisis negotiation hours with the FBI.  Major 
Casey stated our ERT Team deployed 11 times, and they had 1,944 hours of training.  Our 
mobile incident command had 5 call outs and 120 hours of training at Nuclear One.  Our 
honor guard had 23 missions and 24 hours of training.  Major Casey stated this has not been 
discussed before but our K9 program, we did some stats from 2023 compared to 2024 when 
our ICP team went full time.  In 2023 we had 74 narcotic deployments and in 2024 we had 
187.  In 2023 we seized 1,647 pounds of marijuana and in 2024 we seized 4,915 pounds.  
Major Casey stated I basically gave those stats for 2024, so I will give you for 2023, 177 
pounds of cocaine, 1.5 pounds of methamphetamine, 12 pounds of other seized drugs, the 
currency seized was $413,000.00.  We had three patrol deployments in 2023 and 12 in 2024, 
one track in 2023 in which they tracked a bad guy and five in 2024.  Major Casey stated these 
are pretty good stats for Highway Patrol.  Major Casey stated I would like to mention too, we 
are sending 40 of our troopers to Washington, DC.  They leave tomorrow for the inauguration. 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 – Page 4 
 
 
Captain Lann and Lieutenant Pinner will be the leaders of that group, so it is a once in a 
lifetime thing and we will be represented up there pretty well.   
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated I have asked this before, pursuits do they seem to be 
static, trending down, or trending up?  Major Casey stated we did see a decline in December 
a little bit, but we have had several this year already.  We are dealing with these felons, and 
they don’t really care if they go to prison or not, so I don’t know if these felony laws are 
making a difference or not.  It is still pretty young in that, some of these cases are still pending.  
Commission Chairman Teague stated I just noticed in driving on the roads there seems to be 
more visibility of State Troopers, and I assume that is a result of our hiring numbers being up 
and at least there seems to be more respect for the law as far as driving habits go when I drive 
from Fayetteville down to Little Rock.  Major Casey stated Chairman, a lot of that is I have 
to give credit to the Troop Commanders because they are getting their guys out for more 
saturations.  Commission Chairman Teague stated yes, I just see a lot more troopers than I 
have maybe six months to year ago.   
 
Commissioner Hinkle stated Major, I believe you said 40 people were going to Washington, 
DC, is that correct.  Major Casey stated yes sir.  Commissioner Hinkle asked will they be 
doubling up or will that be 40 vehicles also.  Major Casey stated no sir, there is at least two 
to a vehicle and in some is three, so we have cut our fleet in half.  Commissioner Hinkle 
stated I just wondered if they needed that many vehicles after they got up there or if that was 
going to be necessary or not.  Major Casey stated no sir, the parking up there is going to be 
treacherous, so they doubled up.   
 
Commissioner Akin asked were we invited or does every state send some.  Major Casey 
stated I don’t know a total background of that, but we were invited, I know our troopers are 
going to be sharing a hotel with Delaware State Police, I can’t remember the number, Captain 
Lann gave it to me.  Lt. Colonel Jason Aaron stated I believe it was an additional 3,800 law 
enforcement officers from across the country, it is an EMAC request that is sent out 
nationwide to help assist the Metro DC Police.  Colonel Hagar stated just to clarify, I believe 
the number I was told last, and I don’t know if that is still solid or not, but it was 26 state 
police agencies that were sending troopers, a number of large metropolitan agencies and 
sheriff’s departments are also sending personnel.  This was put into motion well over a year 
ago, we didn’t even know who the candidates were going to be much less who was going to 
win.  When we committed these resources, they knew there was the high possibility of an 
enhanced risk at this inauguration, so we committed those resources more than a year ago.   
 
Commissioner Reeves stated back to the pursuits, do we track how many people have 
outstanding warrants, and that’s why they are fleeing.  I know some of them just want to see 
if they can outrun us, but do we track that?  Major Casey stated no sir, it would take going 
through all of the incidents reports to see actually what the charges were, so no.   
 
Colonel Hagar stated I will also say that we are introducing legislation during this session to 
try to reduce these fleeing numbers, and we were approved to run that legislation by the 
Governor’s Office yesterday.  We have a sponsor, a Senator who is very motivated to work 
with us on that, we think we are going to get broad support.  Commissioner Reeves asked 
what would be the change if that passes?  Colonel Hagar stated the best way to describe it is 
there is one statute in the Act 300 or the criminal code statute that basically takes any 
discretion away from the prosecutor’s office or the judge to have the ability to dismiss, merge, 
or reduce the charge at all and that is DWI and that is becoming a very effective tool for law 
enforcement and for public safety.  We are going to take that language and mirror it for the 
felony fleeing act to where once they are charged, it is going to have to be adjudicated, it is 
going to have to be heard as it is, they are not going to be able to merge it, or dismiss it, or 
reduce it.  Colonel Hagar stated the biggest problem that we have right now, there will be 
some push back, a lot of judges and prosecutors don’t want to give up the discretion that they 
have.  Unfortunately, and this is not across the board, but one of the major issues that we 
have, Lt. Colonel Kennedy summarized this the other day, we had a person that we were 
involved in a pursuit with that he was arrested for murder, spent just a few years in prison, 
was released, he was arrested for felony fleeing, back in just the last year or so and his fleeing 
charge was merged and basically reduced to a misdemeanor, got nothing for it and then we 
arrested him again for felony fleeing.  So, we have encouraged criminals to run, there is really 
no reason not to, if they are facing a felony charge for whatever it is that they are concerned 
about, they know, we have taught them that you are better off to just run and take your 
chances because even if you get caught that charge is likely going to be reduced if not 
dismissed altogether.  So, this is an effort to try to stop that and I think we have pretty broad 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 – Page 5 
 
 
 support for it right now.    
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated Major Moyer, Regulatory and Building Operations.   
 
Major Mike Moyer stated good morning, Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, and Colonel Hagar.  
During the month of December, the Identification Bureau processed 17,636 civil background 
checks and 8,413 criminal background checks.  The Used Motor Vehicle Dealer Section 
processed 303 dealer applications.  The PI Security Section processed 358 applications.  The 
Fire Investigators, this was a very busy month, they conducted 12 origin and cause 
investigations, also within those 12, one of them was two fatalities, determined due to space 
heaters.  The bomb squad handled five separate explosives calls.  
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated that brings us to new business and I know we have at 
least one personnel issue that we need to discuss, so we need to go into Executive Session, 
and I would entertain a motion.   
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 
Commissioner Reeves stated I move that we retire into Executive Session to consider 
personnel matters.  Commissioner Hinkle seconded, and the motion passed.  Commission 
Chairman Teague stated we will be back shortly.  The Commission went into Executive 
Session at 10:36 a.m.   
 
Commission Chairman Teague called the meeting back to order at 11:24 a.m.  
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated the first item that we need to deal with is to schedule 
the appeal hearing for Retired Corporal Lori Ring.  Commissioner Reeves made a motion to 
schedule the appeal hearing on Thursday, March 13, 2025, immediately following the ASP 
Commission Meeting.  Commissioner Edwards seconded.  Commission Chairman Teague 
stated we have a motion that the appeal hearing is to be scheduled following our regular 
commission meeting on March 13, 2025, and we have a second, all in favor, I, any opposition, 
so the motion passed. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated next thing on the agenda is the election of officers for 
2025. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated before we do that, I just want to make a quick statement 
here, it has been my pleasure to have served on the Arkansas State Police Commission for 
seven years now and to have been its chair this past year.  Through the years I have served 
on many boards and many commissions, and I can tell you this has been a highlight of my 
career, I have enjoyed serving on the state police commission.  I have heard the word family 
used and I didn’t understand it, but I do understand it now that this is a family and it has been 
interesting to observe, to watch and to participate in being part of this family.  I have 
experienced as you know the highs and a few lows, and it has been a joy and a pleasure to 
watch each of you, how you undergird each other, how you support each other, how you 
supported me through tough times, and I can’t tell you how much I appreciate each of you 
and all of the Arkansas State Police Family.  It has been a pleasure and from the bottom of 
my heart I have enjoyed this, and I appreciate each of you and you mean the world to me, 
and I thank you so much for it.  It’s a, if I had to go back and look at all of the boards and 
commissions that I have served on through the years, this is certainly a highlight.  Colonel 
Hagar, I have enjoyed working with you and this commission has been a highlight of mine 
too.  So, I thank you so much, I appreciate it so much, so thanks a lot for that. 
 
Commissioner Reeves stated thank you. 
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated we will now open the floor for the election of the 
Arkansas State Police Commission Officers for 2025, what is the commissions pleasure?   
 
ELECTION OF ASPC OFFICERS FOR 2025: 
 
Commissioner Basore stated Mr. Chairman, I would like to nominate John Allison as 
Chairman, Vice Chairman is Commissioner Hinkle, and Secretary would be Commissioner 
Ken Reeves that’s who I nominate.  Commission Chairman Teague stated we have 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
January 16, 2025 – Page 6 
 
 
nominations on the floor, do we have a motion?  Commissioner Akin made a motion to elect 
John Allison as Chairman for 2025, Jim Hinkle as Vice Chairman and Commissioner Ken 
Reeves as Secretary.  Commissioner Edwards seconded the motion, Commission Chairman 
Teague stated we have a motion and a second, all in favor, I.    
 
Commission Chairman Teague stated and so the gavel is passed to Commissioner John 
Allison, Commissioner Allison you are live now do you have anything to say at this point?  
Commission Chairman Allison stated if you will hand the gavel over to Commissioner 
Hinkle, I would appreciate that and thank you for those kind words you had to say about the 
Arkansas State Police, once you have been there it is a family, and I think that is great.  
Commission Chairman Allison stated Commissioner Hinkle is going to help preside for me 
while I am not there, and I appreciate it.  Commissioner Hinkle stated thank you sir, I will be 
glad to do that in your absence.  Commissioner Hinkle stated I personally know he has a 
tremendously important schedule this week and he hated that he could not be here in person.  
On behalf of the ASP Commission and on behalf of Commission Chairman Allison, I would 
like to present you, Commissioner Teague, with this plaque, it has a gavel on it and to say 
how much we appreciate your service and your friendship both, thank you so much.  
Commissioner Teague stated thank you sir, I appreciate it. 
 
STIPEND AND MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT: 
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated we need to have a motion to approve the existing 
stipend, which is $60.00 I believe, do I have a motion?  Commissioner Edwards made the 
motion to approve the stipend payment. Commissioner Basore seconded the motion.  
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated we have a motion and second, any discussion, all 
in favor say I, all of those opposed, and the motion passed. 
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated we also have a need to pass a motion for the 
mileage reimbursement, which is set previously at $.52 a mile, do I have a motion?  
Commissioner Reeves made a motion to approve the mileage reimbursement.  Commissioner 
Basore seconded the motion.  Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated we have a motion 
and second, any discussion, all in favor say I, all of those opposed, and the motion passed. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES FOR 2025: 
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle we have a need to also pass a motion for the Health 
Insurance Committee, we have listed here Commission Chairman Allison, Commissioner 
Teague, and Commissioner Basore, do I have a motion for those to serve on the Health 
Insurance Committee for 2025?  Commissioner Edwards made a motion that Commission 
Chairman Allison, Commissioner Teague, and Commissioner Basore served on the Health 
Insurance Committee for 2025.  Commissioner Basore seconded the motion.  Commission 
Vice Chairman Hinkle stated we have a motion and second, any discussion, all in favor say 
I, all of those opposed, and the motion passed. 
 
NEXT MEETING: 
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated take note of the change in next month’s meeting 
it will be held on Friday, February 14, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. in Little Rock, Arkansas. 
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle stated anybody have anything else to bring up.  
Commissioner Teague, again thank you so much, we definitely appreciate it.  Commission 
Vice Chairman Hinkle stated I be will glad to fill in for Commission Chairman Allison this 
year when he has to miss, I hope he does not, but I will be glad to.   
 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle asked for a motion to adjourn.  Commissioner Basore 
made a motion to adjourn.  Commissioner Akin seconded.  With no further business, 
Commission Vice Chairman Hinkle adjourned the meeting at 11:32 a.m.   
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Commission Chairman 
 
 
______________________________ 
Commission Secretary  


